投稿論文/Contributions

# Public Private Partnership and Foreign Direct Investment: Case studies of four Asian countries

Naoya KAWAMURA

University College London, MSc Candidate in Infrastructure Investment and Finance

## Abstract

The gap between need and provision of infrastructure is increasing in Asia. Due to the limitation of domestic financial resources, FDI can play an important role in providing the necessary finance for infrastructure in developing countries.

The case study of four different Asian countries revealed the importance of FDI in infrastructure provision. Vietnam and India achieved significant growth in private infrastructure investment, while the institutional and regulatory framework for PPP is relatively weaker than those of the Philippines and Malaysia, which private infrastructure investment was stagnant.

These results showed that the abolition of FDI restriction could promote private infrastructure investment regardless of the quality of their regulatory and institutional framework for PPP.

Keyword: Public-private partnership, Infrastructure, India, Malaysia, Philippines, Vietnam

## **Table of Contents**

1. INTRODUCTION	3
2. LITERATURE REVIEW	4
2.1 THE INFRASTRUCTURE NEEDS IN ASIA	4
2.2 THE IMPORTANCE OF PRIVATE INVESTMENT	4
2.3 THE TYPES OF PRIVATE PARTICIPATION	5
2.4 CHALLENGES IN PROMOTING PRIVATE INVESTMENT	6
2.5 THE ROLE OF FDI	8
2.6 METHODOLOGY	
3. STUDY OF SUCCESSFUL CASE (VIETNAM AND INDIA)	14
3.1 VIETNAM	
3.2 INDIA	
4. STUDY OF FAILURE CASES (PHILIPPINES AND MALAYSIA)	29
4.1 PHILIPPINES	
4.2 MALAYSIA	
5. CONCLUSION	40
References	42

## List of illustrations

Figure 1. PPI in Vietnam (Source: Made by author from PPI Database by the
World Bank)14
Figure 2. Infrastructure Financing for Vietnam (Source: Nhi 2014)15
Figure 3. The share of each sectors in terms of number of project (% of total) 20
Figure 4. PPI in India (Source: Made by author from PPI Database by the World
Bank)22
Figure 5. The share of each sectors in terms of number of project (% of total) 23
Figure 6. PPI in Philippines (Source: Made by author from PPI Database by the
World Bank)30
Figure 7. The share of each sectors in terms of number of project (% of total) 30
Figure 8. PPI in Malaysia (Source: Made by author from PPI Database by the
World Bank)35
Figure 9. The share of each sectors in terms of number of project (% of total) 35
Table 1. Comparison of challenges in private infrastructure investment8
Table 1. Comparison of challenges in private infrastructure investment
Table 1. Comparison of challenges in private infrastructure investment
Table 1. Comparison of challenges in private infrastructure investment
Table 1. Comparison of challenges in private infrastructure investment
Table 1. Comparison of challenges in private infrastructure investment
Table 1. Comparison of challenges in private infrastructure investment
Table 1. Comparison of challenges in private infrastructure investment8Table 2. The effects of FDI determinants10Table 3. PPI and Infrascope index.11Table 4. Case comparison12Table 5. FDI restrictiveness index and FDI attractiveness index13Table 6. Total Investment (million US\$) (and the number of project) of PPI21Table 7. FDI restrictiveness index in Vietnam21Table 8. FDI restrictiveness index in Vietnam26
Table 1. Comparison of challenges in private infrastructure investment
Table 1. Comparison of challenges in private infrastructure investment
Table 1. Comparison of challenges in private infrastructure investment
Table 1. Comparison of challenges in private infrastructure investment

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Good and sufficient infrastructure is the key determinant to economic growth as well as social and ecological development in developing countries (Asian Development Bank 2017; DFID 2002; Ali and Pernia 2003). For example, infrastructure provides an enabling environment for business so that it provides people an opportunity to get jobs and gain income. Also, it increases accessibility to various services such as schools and hospitals (Seetanah et al. 2009; DFID 2002; Booth et al. 2000; Aschauer 1990).

However, some developing countries failed to improve their infrastructure while others succeeded to increase infrastructure investment and enhanced the quality and quantity of infrastructure. Especially, the gap between provision and need is significant in Asia, where its economy and population are growing rapidly (Nishizawa 2018; McKinsey 2016).

Many literatures point out that the lack of private infrastructure investment is one of the bottleneck of promoting infrastructure investment (Ra and Li 2018; Tyson 2018; Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank 2018; Asian Development Bank 2017; McKinsey 2016). However, especially in developing countries, the size of the domestic financial market is too small to provide sufficient investment to fulfill its need. In those countries, Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) plays important role in promoting the infrastructure investment. This paper discusses the the role of foreign investors and how regulatory and institutional framework, and FDI restriction influence their behaviour through the case study. At first, the following section discusses the current study about infrastructure investment. After that, the section 3 and 4 analyze the importance of regulation and FDI on private infrastructure investment by using four case studies: Vietnam and India as successful cases and the Philippines and Malaysia as failure cases. By comparing the share of FDI in infrastructure investment and surrounding regulation on FDI as well as the institutional and regulatory framework for PPPs, this study shows how FDI and relaxed restriction on FDI contribute to the private infrastructure investment in these countries.

#### **2. LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### 2.1 THE INFRASTRUCTURE NEEDS IN ASIA

The 21st century is predicted to become "Asian Century" due to its rapidly increasing population and economy (Asian Development Bank 2011). According to Asian Development Bank (2011), if it keeps growing on its recent trend, Asia will account for more than half of global GDP by 2050, nearly two-fold increase from today, as well as its per capita income also will reach the similar level to today's European country in 2050. Its population also is expected to increase up to about 5.2 billion in 2050, account for 54 % of the total population in the world (United Nations 2015). In terms of infrastructure investment, nearly half of the total investment on infrastructure goes to Asian countries today, moreover, its share will be expected to increase while that of developed countries is expected to decrease (McKinsey 2016).

The high economic growth and increasing population lead the high need for infrastructure investment in Asian country (Nishizawa 2018), and it leads deficits of infrastructure in Asian countries despite of aspirations for increasing infrastructure investment. The importance of promoting infrastructure investment is emphasized in various development plan and studies from the past (McKinsey 2016). For example, Asian Development Bank (2001)'s "The Long-term Strategic Framework of the Asian Development Bank (2001-2015)" emphasized infrastructure investment is necessary to achieve sustainable economic growth. However, these intentions and efforts to increase infrastructure investment did not achieve sufficient infrastructure provision in the region (McKinsey 2016). As a matter of fact, many literatures still point out that infrastructure provision in Asian countries is still not sufficient, and there is a huge gap between demands and supply.

Asian Development Bank (2017) estimated that it is necessary to invest 26 trillion US\$ from 2016 to 2030 in Asia, which is equivalent to 1.7 trillion US\$ per year. This enormous demand will create a massive gap between investment and demand for infrastructure. The region currently invests about 881 billion US\$ per year in the infrastructure sector (Asian Development Bank 2017). Estimated by the current trends, the infrastructure investment gap will be 459 billion US\$ - equal to 2.4% of GDP in the region (Asian Development Bank 2017). To make things worse, without the People's Republic of China (PRC), the gap will rise to higher than 5% of GDP of the remaining countries in Asia (Asian Development Bank 2017).

#### 2.2 THE IMPORTANCE OF PRIVATE INVESTMENT

However, as discussed above, it is difficult for the public sector alone to provide sufficient infrastructure investment, therefore, private participation is necessary. In general, there are three types of financial sources of infrastructure investment; (a) national or local governments' budget, (b) an aid or a loan from bilateral or multilateral international agencies or (c) private finance (Kato 2016). Today, most developed countries except Japan have higher share of private finance but public finance is still major source of finance in Asian countries (Inderst 2016).

McKinsey (2016) estimated that Asian countries, except developed countries and China, had spent 3.6% of GDP on an average between 1992 to 2013. This means that these countries need

to increase its public finance about three-times larger in order to meet the 5% future infrastructure gap. However, It is difficult to make additional funds from former two public finance source to fulfil the enormous gap of infrastructure investment due to its limited capacity (Asian Development Bank 2017; Asian Development Bank 2011; Kato 2016). This is because it is difficult to make additional funds from limited government's budget which is also necessary to implement other prioritized policies (Subhanij and Lin 2019; Tyson 2018; Kato 2016). In terms of increasing revenue, it is also difficult especially for developing countries to collect additional funds for infrastructure by establishing new tax or user fees (Estache et al. 2015). Also, the international aid cannot become a sufficient source of infrastructure investment considering the current trends<sup>1</sup> (Kato 2016).

Due to the limited availability of public finance, many international organizations and academic literature emphasize the importance of private investment for filling the gap between the needs and the public investment (Asian Development Bank 2017; Asian Development Bank 2011; DFID 2007). In addition, private participation in infrastructure provision can expand accessibility of services, and provide its services more efficiently with better quality (Harris et al, 2003; Clark, 2006 cited in DFID, 2007)

However, private funding still remains a minor source of infrastructure investing (Tyson 2018); Estache (2006) estimates that 70% of total investment comes from the public sector, 20% from private funding and 10% from aid. According to these, it is important to think about how to promote private investment.

## **2.3 THE TYPES OF PRIVATE PARTICIPATION**

PPP is a common form of private participation in infrastructure provision. According to the Private Participation in Infrastructure Database by World Bank, more than 80% of private participation was implemented by the form of PPPs.

International Monetary Fund defined PPP as;

"An arrangement where the private sector supplies assets and services that traditionally have been provided by the government." (IMF 2004, pp.3) "In addition to private execution and financing of public investment, PPPs have two other important characteristics: there is an emphasis on service provision, as well as investment, by the private sector; and significant risk is transferred from the government to the private sector" (IMF 2004, pp.6).

PPP comes in many forms, such as BOT (Build Operate and Transfer), BOO (Build-Own-Operate), BOOT (Build-Own-Operate-Transfer), BOLT (Build-Operate-Lease-Transfer), LDO (Lease-Develop-Operate), ROT (Rehabilitate-Operate-Transfer) and so on. Each form of PPP is a slightly different arrangement or contract between the private sector and a government in terms of who is responsible designs, finances, builds, develops, owns, operates and manages an infrastructure.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For example, although it is increasing, net ODA to Asia was only about \$49 billion and about 65% of them went to social and economic infrastructure investment in 2017 (OECD 2019).

However, they all share the common features: private sectors participate in infrastructure provision, and they can have rights to acquire income from government or service user.

Although there are some critiques of PPP, claiming that PPP enable private firms to extract public wealth for private gain (Hildyard 2014), PPP gradually became a popular method to involve the private sector in order to increase infrastructure provision (Roehrich et al. 2014; Mahoney et al. 2009).

The nature of infrastructure project also has an effect on investors incentives to invest. Broadly speaking, there are two types of project in infrastructure investment: greenfield project and brownfield project. Greenfield project is the project which requires investors to design, develop, and construct infrastructure from the beginning, and its potential investment gains will come in later years. Brownfield project, on the other hand, refers to management or rehabilitation of existing assets, such as privatization of existing public services.

Greenfield projects may bring more profit; however, it is more difficult to attract private investment because it is riskier and require investors to design, develop, and construct infrastructure from the beginning (Ra and Li 2018). Because of this, private investors often prefer to invest low-risk brownfield project (World Economic Forum 2014).

Nevertheless, 70% of the now available projects to private investors are greenfield projects (McKinsey 2016), which deprive private investors an opportunity for investing in infrastructure.

## 2.4 CHALLENGES IN PROMOTING PRIVATE INVESTMENT

Although the PPP is gradually becoming a more popular way of infrastructure provision, there is still a huge gap to be filled. Why the private investment is still lacking despite the fact that the importance of private participation was already recognized before? What makes it difficult? Is there any specific problem in Asia? Table 1 summarized the literature which argues the hindrance to private infrastructure investment from the two viewpoints, the argument for all over the world including Asia and the argument for Asia specifically. Among them, one of the issues commonly discussed in the literature is financial mobilization (lack of finance). The literature mainly suggested two aspects.

The first one is the heterogeneous distribution of private finance. Private finance is concentrated on the middle-income countries and more attractive sectors such as electricity. Tyson (2018) estimated that middle-income countries, including Asian countries, attracted 98% of all private infrastructure financing between 2008 and 2017. Compared with this, low-income countries attract only a small portion of private finance (McKinsey 2016). This is because the private finance flows to the more commercially attractive project in middle-income countries (Tyson 2018).

Secondly, the amount of private finance itself is small both in the world and the Asian country. As discussed above, most of the provision of infrastructure are made by the public sector. Although Asian countries, especially East Asian countries, show a relatively high saving rate (World

Bank, 2019), Ra and Li (2018) estimated that the small portion of funds allocated to infrastructure investment<sup>2</sup>; that is, they failed to maximize the potential of private funds (Nishizawa 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Nishizawa (2018) noted that many of emerging and developing Asian countries have shown excess savings over investment. This means that the domestic savings have not been effectively and fully utilized as sources of infrastructure investment (Nishizawa 2018).

Table 1. Comparison of challenges in private infrastructure investmer
---

	WORLDWIDE VIEW		ASIAN VIEW		
	Private infrastructure financing in developing countries (Tyson 2018)	Bridging Global Infrastructure Gaps (McKinsey 2016)	Meeting Asia's Infrastructure Needs (Asian Development Bank 2017)	Closing the Financial Gap in Asian Infrastructure (Ra and Li 2018)	Mobilizing Private Capital for Infrastructure (Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank 2018)
Environ mental Issue	Various kinds of risks are an obstacle for investment (e.g. political, macroeconomics, interest rate and exchange rate)	Regulation, risk and cross border investment rules		High infrastructure investment risks (failure of payment/ higher country's risk (regulatory, macroeconomic and political risk))	Excessive perception of risk (political, currency, social and environmental risk)     Risk
				<ul> <li>Asymmetries of information (e.g. its risk, demand and the return are not shared effectively) and the different regulation within the region (lack of standardization) also also leads extra cost.</li> </ul>	
Finance mobilizat ion	<ul> <li>Private infrastructure investment has been concentrated in countries with strong investment fundamentals so that investment to middle-income countries are biggest.</li> <li>Mobilization of private finance is still low level</li> </ul>	Low income countries attract small amount of finance	<ul> <li>Mobilization of private finance is low</li> <li>The infrastructure equity market in Asia is relatively small compared to other areas</li> </ul>	Limited role of long- term investors (the scale of pension funds in the region except Japan is small / Funds allocated only 1% of their fund in infrastructure)	Lack of finance
The character istics of projects	The lack of bankable projects.	The lack of bankable projects	A limited pipeline of bankable projects due to its complex procedure before investment.	Weak preparation of bankable projects	Difficulties to create bankable project  ack of bankable projects
	A mismatch between demands and needs (such as minimum credit-rating and liquidity levels)	The difficulty of assessment			• The lack of standardization
Other issues			<ul> <li>the lack of a credible credit rating scheme for project bond, which is necessary for investment firms to determine the investment</li> </ul>		<ul> <li>Its long-term and non-liquid nature hinder the investment</li> </ul>

(Made by author from Tyson 2018; Ra and Li 2018; Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank 2018; Asian Development Bank 2017; McKinsey 2016)

## 2.5 THE ROLE OF FDI

Considering an unmatured and limited financial market in developing countries, Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) can play an important role in providing infrastructure investment in those countries.

In general, FDI plays an important role in providing necessary finance, technology, knowledge, and jobs (Ghebrihiwet and Motchenkova 2017; Thomsen 2019). However, some government worries about its crowding-out effects and try to protect the domestic industry. One of the most common strategies is to impose restrictions on the activities of foreign investors (Thomsen 2019). For example, the limitation of foreign equity share is employed to protect local companies and require foreign investors to share its profits and technologies with local partners (Thomsen 2019).

Mistura and Roulet (2019) showed that foreign equity limitation is the strongest restriction and have greater importance for foreign investors. In most countries, foreign equity limits, which limit the extent of foreign ownership in the companies in a certain sector, is the common measure to restrict foreign investment (Mistura and Roulet 2019). The rationale for this restriction is to protect domestic investors, which is not matured and less competitive, from foreign competition and to promote linkages between foreign investors and the domestic economy for the purpose of pushing domestic investors to acquire foreign investor's technology and knowledge (Mistura and Roulet 2019).

However, many studies have suggested that the restrictions are often not only ineffective but also counterproductive (Mistura and Roulet 2019; Thomsen 2019). Also, Nicoletti et al. (2003) and Ghosh et al. (2012) examined the effects of restrictions on FDI in OECD countries and concluded that there is a negative effect of restrictions on inward FDI stocks, depressing FDI by between 10% and 80% on average across countries. Conversely, OECD (2011) showed that a political shift from full restriction to full liberalization would improve FDI by about 25% in OECD countries. This is because, although some investors might be happy to work with local partners to handle local regulations and cultural customs, restriction on equity share will limit on a foreign investor's control of the company (Thomsen 2019).

However, although some studies like Nicoletti et al. (2003) focused on how infrastructure affects the inflow of FDI, no studies focused on how FDI restrictions affect the foreign investment on infrastructure. In addition, most studies analyzed the relationship between the restriction or environment and overall FDI, so it does not distinguish where FDI goes.

Besides the restriction on FDI, many determinants of FDI were discussed and analyzed. In most of the studies. For example, a market size and growth rate are the most commonly used indicators of locational determinants of FDI (Mitsura and Roulet 2019). Countries with larger markets tend to receive more FDI, due to higher demand potential and returns to scale. Another example is the taxation. Higher corporate taxation is expected to discourage FDI because foreign investors seek to maximize the return on their investment.

However, it is pointed out that the existing literature on the determinants of FDI inflow has been mixed and inconsistent (Hasli et al. 2015; Kok and Ersoy 2009). As shown in Table 2, a large number of studies on FDI determinants have been conducted, but their outcome is inconsistent and sometimes conflicting. On this point, Chakrabarti (2001) argued that "the relation between FDI and many of the controversial variables (namely, tax, wages, openness, exchange rate, tariffs, growth and trade balance) are highly sensitive to small alterations in the conditioning information set." Furthermore, this is because of the complexity of the economy and decision on investment, so FDI determinants and significance of each determinant could vary from country and country, sector by sector (Saini and Singhania 2018; Petrović-Ranđelović et al. 2013). According to these, it is meaningful to analyze the relationship between FDI regulation and FDI investment through case study methodology.

Determinants of ED	Effects on FDI						
	Non-effect	Negative effect	Positive effect				
Openness	Schmitz and Bieri (1972), Wheeler and Mody (1992)		Kravis and Lipsey (1982), Culem (1988), Edwards (1990), Pistoresi (2000), De Mello (1999)				
Growth rates	Tsai (1994)		Lunn (1980), Schneider and Frey (1985), De Long and Summers (1991), Levine and Renelt (1992), Culem (1988), Blomstrom et al. (1992), Borensztein et al. (1998), Billington (1999), Lim (2001), Durham (2002), Chakraborty and Basu (2002)				
Exchange rates	Blonigen (1997), Tuman and Emmert (1999)	Caves (1989), Froot and Stein (1991), Blonigen and Feenstra (1996),	Edwards (1990)				
Tax factors (national and local tax rates; tax depreciation and tax credits at the national and at the local levels; tax holidays, dividend policy) and non-tax government incentives	Wheeler and Mody (1992), Jackson and Markowski (1995), Yulin and Reed (1995)	Hartman (1984), Grubert and Mutti (1991), Hines and Rice (1994), Loree and Guisinger (1995), Cassou (1997), Devereux and Griffith (1998), Billington (1999), Desai et al. (2002)	Swenson (1994)				
Labor costs	Owen (1982), Gupta (1983), Lucas (1990), Sader (1993), Tsai (1994)	Goldsbrough (1979), Flamm (1984), Culem (1988), Schneider and Frey (1985), Shamsuddin (1994), Pistoresi (2000)	Caves (1974), Swedenborg (1979), Wheeler and Mody (1992)				
Trade barriers Gross domestic investment, gross capital formation and	Blonigen and Feenstra (1996)	Culem (1988)	Schmitz and Bieri (1972), Lunn Sun (1998)				
Technology gap		Blomstrom (1989)					
Economic Freedom			De Haan and Sturm (2000), Bengoa and Sanchez-Robles (2003)				
Market sizes			Bandera and White (1968), Swedenborg (1979), Rott and Ahmed (1979), Lunn (1980), Kravis and Lipsey (1982), Nigh (1985), Culem (1988), Pearce (1990), Wheeler and Mody (1992), Dunning (1993), Tsai (1994), Loree and Guisinger (1995), Shamsuddin (1994), Dees (1998), Billington (1999), Pistoresi (2000),Shatz and Venables (2000), Fung et al.(2000)				
R&D (research and development)			Ueng and Ojah (1997), Tomiura (2003), Caves (1996)				
Corruption		Drabek and Payne (1999), Kaufmann and Wei (1999), Wei (1999), Smarzynska and Wei (2000)					
Human capital			Fosfuri et al. (2001), Glass and				

## Table 2. The effects of FDI determinants

(Source: Kok and Ersoy 2009)

## **2.6 METHODOLOGY**

The purpose of this paper is to discuss the role of FDI in infrastructure investment and how regulatory and institutional framework determine the participation of foreign investors. For this purpose, this paper employed a case study analysis. The case study is an appropriate methodology when a holistic, in-depth investigation is needed (Orum et al. 1991; Yin 2014). In this sense, the case study analysis is an appropriate measure in order to research the causality between enabling environment and private infrastructure investment and the role of FDI.

In order to select countries to analyze, this paper considered the current trends of private infrastructure and their environment for PPP.

Table 3 shows the current trends of private infrastructure investment, Infrascope index, and score of Procuring Infrastructure PPPs in some Asian countries. The World Bank's Private Participation in Infrastructure (PPI) Database<sup>34</sup> is used to measure private infrastructure investment. On the other hand, two indexes are used to measure the enabling environment of PPP projects. Infrascope index by The Economist (2018) indicates the capacity of countries implement PPP by evaluating their regulations, institutions and investment climate. In addition, Procuring Infrastructure PPPs by World Bank (2018) also measures enabling environment of PPP project from different perspective. It measures 135 economies and scored from four perspectives: preparation, procurement, contract management, and a special module on unsolicited proposals (USP).

In table 3, PPI in Vietnam and India grew significantly from the 1990s to the 2010s, 1826.7% and 994.4% respectively. On the other hand, countries such as Philippines and Malaysia did not increase PPI in the same period. More interestingly, this does not correlate with the Infrascope index and Procuring Infrastructure PPPs scores.

Considering these facts, the four countries were chosen for the case study; Vietnam, India, Philippines and Malaysia. These four countries were chosen in terms of their growth rate of PPI and whether their environment for PPP is good or bad (see Table 4)<sup>5</sup>.

PPI (milli	on USD) (averag	e / year)	the growth rate			Infrascope	F	Procuring Infra	astructure PPF	D C
1990s	2000s	2010s	(1990s - 2010s)		Country	index (overall)	Preparation	Procurement	Contract Management	Unsolicited Proposals
74.4	501.4	1434.1	1826.7	× 7	Thailand	83	27	45	58	Not regulated and do not happen in practice
1259.1	9192.3	13780.3	994.4	$\sim$ /	Philippines	81	85	76	88	83
55.5	89.3	521.2	839.4	$\sim$	PRC	80	61	82	76	54
1841.4	651.2	4990.8	171.0	$\times$	India	77	82	72	80	Expressly prohibited
4447.4	6433.4	10544.5	137.1		Bangladesh	66	51	66	39	83
670.5	750.8	1482.5	121.1		Viet Nam	66	77	77	62	25
1452.9	871.4	2144.4	47.6		Indonesia	61	63	74	58	58
2035.8	1545.2	2328.3	14.4		Kyrgyz Republic	61	33	40	49	50
10.0	0.0	5.0	-50.0		Pakistan	61	67	66	37	42
2368.0	1916.6	1001.2	-57.7		Kazakhstan	58	59	51	59	58
330.8	58.5	117.8	-64.4		Malaysia	-	50	42	33	38

Table 3. PPI and Infrascope index

(Source: made by author from The Economist (2018) and PPI database by World Bank)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The PPI Database is the comprehensive data set on infrastructure investment with private participation, in low and middle countries. PPI data set collects data of infrastructure project with various kinds of private participation, mostly in the form of PPP.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Although PPI database is widely used for research on PPPs, it also contains some limitations, such as a risk of inaccuracy due to the reliability of data sources and a risk of poor representation of small projects (The World Bank 2019; Kaminsky 2017). Also, the PPI database collects data using their own criteria, and it does not necessarily match the definitions of PPPs in each country.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Infrascope index of Malaysia is not available. However, the following section shows that the quality of their institutional and regulation framework of PPP are weak.

#### Table 4. Case comparison

Regulatory/ Institutional framework for PPPs PPI	Bad	Good
Increased	Vietnam	India
Stagnant	Malaysia	Philippines

(Source: made by author)

In order to compare the situation surrounding FDI, this paper uses two index, FDI restrictiveness index and FDI attractiveness index. FDI restrictiveness index is calculated by OECD, covering all OECD members and some non-OECD members. The index evaluates the four aspects of FDI regulation, equity restrictions, screening and approval requirements, restrictions on foreign key personnel, and other operational restrictions (such as limits on purchase of land or on repatriation of profits and capital) (OECD 2010). While FDI restrictiveness index measures the regulatory restriction on FDI, FDI attractiveness index by Riadh (n.a) considers more comprehensive factors, such as macroeconomics (i.e., Real GDP growth volatility, Inflation Rate), governance (i.e., Political Stability and Absence of Violence, Control of Corruption) and business environment (i.e., investor protection, contract enforcement). These indexes give us general trends of FDI in the four case study countries.

Table 5 shows a summary of the FDI indexes in each country. The total FDI restrictiveness index in India and Vietnam is relatively smaller than Malaysia and Philippines. This means that the former two countries have more lax regulation than latter countries. Sector-wise, the electricity and transport sector in India and the electricity sector in Vietnam have a very small restriction index (less than 0.1).

In terms of FDI attractiveness index, on the other hand, Malaysia has the highest score among the four countries due to the high score in the Prerequisites field<sup>6</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In the Prerequisites field, Malaysia has a higher score in the business environment. Especially, their stability of electricity supply, investor protection, and smoothness of construction permits are evaluated well.

Country	India	Viet Nam	Malaysia	Philippines						
FDI restrictiveness index (2018)										
Sector / Industry										
Electricity	0.064	0.01	0.5	0.365						
Transport	0.093	0.528	0.296	0.655						
Communications	0.175	0.583	0.375	0.65						
Primary	0.213	0.061	0.295	0.644						
Secondary	0.041	0.022	0.112	0.164						
Tertiary	0.314	0.225	0.326	0.409						
Media	0.28	0.408	0.525	0.913						
Real estate investment	0.95	0.237	0.3	0.525						
Total FDI Index	0.209	0.13	0.252	0.374						
FDI attractiveness index (2	2019)									
Prerequisites	59.8	59.8	72.6	54.4						
Underlying Factors	39.7	44.6	51.9	39						
Agglomeration & Different	30.1	32.5	38	29.5						
Total FDI index	43.1	45.9	54.3	41.1						

Table 5. FDI restrictiveness index and FDI attractiveness index

(Source: made by author from OECD (n.d.) and Riadh (n.d))

Based on these facts, the following sections discuss the trends of PPP infrastructure investment and the reasons why infrastructure investment in four countries was increased or stagnant.

### 3. STUDY OF SUCCESSFUL CASE (VIETNAM AND INDIA)

Section 3 focuses on the case of Vietnam and India. These two countries achieved significant growth from the 1990s to 2010s, respectively. On the other hand, these two countries have different quality of regulatory and institutional framework of PPP. India has a better framework of PPP, while Vietnam has an inferior framework. By analysing these two countries, this chapter shows how important FDI is in infrastructure investment, and how regulatory and institutional framework determines the participation of foreign investors.

#### **3.1 VIETNAM**

Private infrastructure investment in Vietnam was scarce in the 1990s; there was only 10 projects and 744 million US\$ of investment in total in the decade of the 1990s. However, Vietnam reached its highest PPI (3.6 billion US\$) in 2018, which is the third highest investment destination in Asia in 2018 (The World Bank 2019) (Figure 1). This rapid increase also contributed to the world's PPI growth in 2018 (The World Bank 2019).

According to this, the structure of the finance source for infrastructure changed over time. The share of financing from the Vietnamese government and ODA has decreased, while that of private investment increased (The Economist 2018; Nhi 2014)(Figure 2).



Figure 1. PPI in Vietnam (Source: Made by author from PPI Database by the World Bank)



Figure 2. Infrastructure Financing for Vietnam (Source: Nhi 2014)

#### (Economic profile of Vietnam)

Over the past 30 years, Vietnam has had a remarkable economic development. After the Vietnam war, it was one of the poorest countries in the world, and its GDP per capita was stuck between 200 and 300 US\$ (Nhi 2014). After the introduction of the economic and political reform, called Doi-Moi, in 1986, Vietnam's economy showed rapid growth with annual 6-7% growth rate (Vanham 2018).

Market liberalization is one of the main factors of rapid economic growth in Vietnam. One of their examples is SOEs reform. Historically, Vietnam was the centrally planned economic regime which State Owned Enterprises (SOEs) played a central role in the Vietnamese economy and exclusively dominated many industries, including the provision of infrastructure (Nguyen and van Dijk 2012). However, there are some drawbacks of SOEs in terms of efficient provision of infrastructure. For example, SOEs had crowded out private investment because they deprived the opportunity and resource of private companies due to the favourable environment for them in terms of regulations and loan availabilities (The Economist 2018; Vu-Thanh 2017; Van Thang and Freeman 2009). Because of this, SOEs are regarded as the hindrance of economic growth.

From the 1990s, Vietnamese government started Doi-Moi, which means "renovation" in English, in order to open its economy to international trade and foreign investment (Dinh 2000). SOEs reform was part of Doi-Moi reform, and aimed to promote participation of more efficient and competitive private sector (Nguyen and van Dijk 2012). Along with SOEs reforms, FDI also increased from the 1990s. Its strategic location and rapid economic growth made Vietnam more attractive investment destination and the government had also introduced the Law of Foreign Investment in Vietnam in order to attract more foreign investment (Alfen et al. 2009). Because of this, annual FDI inflow into Vietnam was 0.32 billion US\$ in 1988 but it has increased dramatically (Phi-lan 2006), and in 2018, Vietnam attracted 35.46 billion US\$.

#### (Promotion of Private Participation in Vietnam)

Rapid economic growth in Vietnam led to an enormous demand for infrastructure (ESCAP, 2017). The national development plan, such as *the Five-year socio-economic development plan* in 2011 and *the Socio-economic development plan for 2016-2020* in 2016 articulated the need to promote infrastructure investment (ESCAP 2017a; Nhi 2014). However, the financial capacity of the government is limited and ODA was also expected to decrease as Vietnam's economy grew, the government started to pay more attention to private participation in infrastructure investment (Vietnam Investment Review 2019; ESCAP 2017a).

In the early 1990s, the Vietnamese government had announced its desire to attract private investment in infrastructure, and tried to promote private participation in infrastructure projects (Alfen et al. 2009). For example, the government revised the Law on Foreign Investment to promote Build Operate and Transfer (BOT)<sup>7</sup> projects in 1992. Also, the BOT regulation was decreed a year later (Baietti 2000).

However, private participation in infrastructure projects remained very low, and there was no evidence that the regulatory framework for BOT could promote private participation in the 1990s (Baietti 2000). In addition to there were no replicable models for PPI projects due to its limited number of PPI projects, there were three hinderances of private infrastructure investment in Vietnam (Baietti 2000);

- 1. Some sectors, such as airports, railway and telecommunications, were still restricted to private management and ownership
- 2. There are many other restrictions on foreign firms to invest in the Vietnamese infrastructure sector.
- 3. The general business environment was still not developed and made an investment in infrastructure risky for private sponsors.

In the 2000s, the Vietnamese government continued to make an effort to develop the environment for private investment in infrastructure and the current regulatory and institutional framework for PPP was established.

#### (Institutional framework)

- Today, the institutional framework for PPP projects in Vietnam consists of;
- PPP Steering Committee, which is established and managed by the initiative of the prime minister

<sup>7</sup> BOT (Build-Operate-Transfer) is one of the forms of PPP. Private contractors are responsible for the design, build, and operation as well as financing it on behalf of the government. The private firm can get revenue from user fees or payment by the government. On the end of the contract term, the infrastructure assets will be transferred to the government.

- Government authorities, such as ministries and provincial committees, which sign contracts PPP projects
- PPP units at the provincial and central government, which manage PPP operations
- PPP Office under the Ministry of Planning and Investment (MPI), which provide overall guidance and support for PPP.

The institutional framework in Vietnam regarded as matured in Infrascope index, which scored 84 in domain 2 (institution) (The Economist 2018). However, this should be interpreted carefully because most countries (11 out of 19) obtained over 80 in domain 2, and Vietnam ranked 10th among them. Furthermore, it is pointed out that, even though some PPP institutions were established, their capacity and institutional knowledge are low and are passive to play a coordinating role (the role is also unclear) (The Economist 2018; APEC 2018).

## (Regulatory framework)

The regulatory framework in Vietnam also has many rooms to be improved even though the Vietnamese government put much effort into improving it, as explained below.

- The concept of PPP was included in Vietnamese 2013 Bidding Law, 2014 Construction Law, 2014 Public Investment Law, and 2014 Investment Law (APEC 2018).
- In addition, Vietnam Decree 15 came into effect in 2015. It aimed to promote PPP project by replacing the largely unimplemented regulation for BOT, BTO and BT project under former Decree 108.19 (ESCAP 2017b). Decree 15 is currently replaced by Decree 63 in 2018, which aims to improve and simplify the investment procedures, as well as enhance the project's management and so on (Bang and Nghia 2018).
- The government's circular No.02 in 2016 provided guidance for project selection, appraisal of PPP.
- In addition, the government of Vietnam provides various beneficial tax schemes to incentivize private participation; such as tax exemption and reduction for BOT companies (Alfen et al. 2009).

However, many pieces of literature point out the inefficiency of PPP regulatory framework in Vietnam (APEC 2018; The Economist 2018; Kim and Poensgen 2019; Foster 2019). For example, the complexity of the legal structure of PPP, which have many layers (such as laws, ordinances, decrees, circulars), make it difficult to fully understand the overall picture of the regulatory framework of PPP in Vietnam (The Economist 2018). The other problem is the inconsistency of regal framework. The PPP activities in Vietnam follows mainly the series of decrees. However, the lack of standalone PPP law causes the inconsistency of the regulatory framework, the contradiction between law and decrees. Because the individual laws take precedence the provisions in the PPP decrees, this inconsistency hinders the efficient implementation of PPP regulatory framework (APEC 2018; The Economist 2018; Foster 2019)<sup>8</sup>.

Also, the risk-sharing scheme is not sufficient in Vietnam (The Economist 2018; Kim and Poensgen 2019). Although there are the scheme of government guarantee and undertakings (GGU) in Vietnam, the condition for it is getting stricter and risk-sharing mechanism is unclear (Ohya et al. 2019; Kim and Poensgen 2019). This unavailability of risk-sharing scheme is regarded as one of the major hindrances for investors to invest infrastructure project because it makes it difficult to establish the appropriate risk allocation between the public sector and the private sector (Ohya et al. 2019).

Overall, the institutional and regulatory framework in Vietnam are still weak. Especially, its regulatory framework has much room to be improved. Infrascope index in the regulatory domain is significantly small (regulatory domain 61: overall 66). Also, Procuring Infrastructure PPPs scores are relatively smaller compared to other higher scored countries, such as the Philippines and India.

### (What did bring the increase of PPI in Vietnam?)

There are two possible reasons why PPI in Vietnam increased despite its weak regulatory framework. One is an existence of matured institutional framework, and the other is the preferable environment for the electricity sector.

The presence of matured institutional framework is the premise of overall transparency, accountability, and appropriate implementation of PPP regulatory framework (The economist, 2018). In this sense, the strong institutional environment enables the country to seek successful PPP projects without having top-level regulation for PPP, in other words, institutional performance tends to be linked to overall PPP performance. However, this theory cannot explain why the countries, which have the same or higher Infrascope score, did not attract more PPI<sup>9</sup>.

The other explanation is that the reforms to provide favorable environment for promoting investment in electricity project attract FDI in Vietnam.

Historically, Electricity of Vietnam (EVN), which is a SOE in Vietnam, is the biggest buyer of electricity and have a monopoly on electricity distribution and transmission, under the supervision of the Ministry of Industry and Trade (MOIT) (ESCAP 2017a). However, Vietnam's rapid industrialization required more electricity and EVN became not to be capable to provide sufficient electricity. As a matter of fact, Vietnam's energy consumption has increased at an average 15 percent in recent years, which is significantly higher than Vietnamese economic growth rate (Nhi 2014). The lack of electricity can be a significant hindrance to economic activities so that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The Law on PPP is now being drafted and expected to be adopted in the near future (possibly in May 2020) to provide a comprehensive and consolidated PPP framework (Kim and Poensgen 2019; DFDL 2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> For example, Thailand (97 in Infrascope domain 2) and Pakistan (88) have a higher score than Vietnam (84), but less PPI in the average from 2006 to 2015 (1389 million USD for Thailand, 1000 for Pakistan, 837 for Vietnam).

Vietnamese government implemented a series of reforms in order to attract private investment in the electricity sector to expand its capacity.

Liberalization of electricity started in 2004 with the passing of the Electricity Law, intended to ensure the sustainable development of the sector to satisfy the growing electricity need (The World Bank 2018). The major reforms in electricity sector are;

• The restructuring of EVN

The restructuring of EVN is one of the main key steps towards a competitive electricity market. EVN is converted into a shareholding company which allows foreign private investors to become its shareholders, aiming to create business-oriented enterprises and to attract private finance instead of government subsidies. (ESCAP 2017a).

• Preferential treatment of GGU

Under the decision 2414/QD-TTg in December 2013, the thermal power plants can acquire preferential treatments, including government guarantee and undertakings (GGU) (Ohya et al. 2019). As discussed above, the risk-sharing scheme (GUU) does not work in other infrastructure sectors, but it is much easier for the electricity sector to receive GUU (Ohya et al. 2019; The World Bank 2018).

• Incentives of feed-in tariffs

In addition, renewable energy sector is also increasing with the Vietnamese government's strong support. For example, feed-in tariffs of renewable energy are relatively higher than other measures (0.0935 US\$/kilowatt-hour for solar and 0.098 US\$ for wind compared with 0.072 US\$ for the average wholesale power generation cost) (The World Bank 2018).

These reforms promoted private participation in the electricity sector. As shown in Figure 3, the share of electricity sector among PPI in Vietnam increased from the 2000s (33% in 2000-2004 to 88% in 2015-2018).



Figure 3. The share of each sectors in terms of number of project (% of total) (Source: Made by author by using PPI Database by the World Bank)

The rapid growth of electricity generation capacity was mainly due to large thermal power plants financed by international investors (The World Bank 2018). As shown in Table 6, foreign investment increased much larger than that of domestic investment. Also, the number of projects with foreign investment is small, meaning the scale of the project is large. As a matter of fact, the average scale of projects with foreign investment is larger than that of domestic (314 million USD per project and 63 million USD per project respectively). For example, Duyen Hai 2 Thermal Power Plant project in 2017, which Malakoff Corporation Berhad from Malaysia financed, require 2.4 billion US\$<sup>10</sup>.

This rapid increase of foreign investment was made by the beneficial environment for electricity sector along with the surge of FDI due to Vietnam's attractive location and rapid economic growth (Alfen et al. 2009). This surge of FDI also attributes to various measures to attract FDI carried out by the Vietnamese government, ranging from the provision of a legal framework to improving the investment environment as a whole (Vo and Nguyen 2012). For instance, the Law on Foreign Investment was first introduced in 1987 and has been amended several times, reflecting the improvement of the legal framework for FDI promotion in Vietnam. At the same period, the country gradually has relaxed regulations on registration procedures, restrictions on foreign trade, access to land, capital, and foreign exchanges, and initiated tax incentives to promote FDI (Vo and Nguyen 2012). For example, Vietnam does not have equity limit of foreign investment so that foreign investors are treated in the same way with domestic investors (JETRO 2019a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> This is the biggest project in Vietnam since PPI data collection started in 1990.

In terms of FDI restrictiveness index and FDI attractiveness index, FDI restrictiveness index decreased, especially in electricity sector (0.01 in 2018) (Table 7). This is significantly small compared to other four countries, while FDI attractiveness index is still smaller than Malaysia (Table 5).

Table 6. Total Investment (million US\$) (and the number of project) o	f PPI <sup>11</sup>

	1990-1994	1995-1999	2000-2004	2005-2009	2010-2014	2015-2018
Domestic	0	0	0	715 (11)	2180 (42)	686 (4)
Foreign	10 (1)	734 (11)	2710 (9)	1250 (9)	3937 (6)	5479 (9)
Not Mentioned	0	0	0	340 (10)	136 (2)	153 (3)
Total	10 (1)	734 (11)	2710 (9)	2304 (30)	6253 (50)	6318 (16)

(Source: Made by author by using PPI Database by the World Bank)

FDI restrictiveness index		Year		
Sector / Industry	1997	2003	2010	2018
Primary	0.72	0.404	0.361	0.061
Secondary	0.576	0.286	0.099	0.022
Electricity	0.31	0.25	0.054	0.01
Tertiary	0.714	0.542	0.405	0.225
Transport	0.932	0.869	0.735	0.528
Media	0.62	0.55	0.52	0.408
Communications	0.62	0.55	0.633	0.583
Real estate investment	0.87	0.725	0.645	0.237
Total FDI Index	0.671	0.435	0.3	0.13

## Table 7. FDI restrictiveness index in Vietnam

(Source: made by author from OECD(n.d.))

Overall, Vietnam does not have a significant regulatory and institutional framework, and the risk-sharing scheme does not work. However, the rapid growth in PPI in electricity sector and relaxed restriction combined with various promotion policy suggest that preferable environment for the electricity sector attracts rapidly increasing FDI, resulting in a steady increase in overall PPI, regardless of poor regulatory and institutional framework for PPP.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Foreign investment means infrastructure project with participation of foreign firms so that part of investment may come from domestic company. It means the whole investment is not necessarily comes from foreign firms.

## 3.2 INDIA

Figure 4 shows the amount of PPI investment from 1990. PPI in the 1990s seems very small in the graph but the average PPI of the 1990s is relatively large in Asian countries because the average investment in the 1990s is 1259 million US\$, which is close to that of Vietnam in the 2010s (1434 million US\$). In the 2000s, India experienced tremendous growth in PPI. In 2010, India's PPI reached its peak, about 50 billion US\$. That investment is the highest level that any developing country invested in any giving year from 1990 (The World Bank 2011). As a matter of fact, India alone accounted for about 40% of the total PPI projects in developing countries in 2010 (The World Bank 2011). Since 2010, infrastructure investment with private participation dropped year by year. However, India still accounts for significant share of PPI in the world.

In terms of sector invested, although the road sector's share is increasing and accounts larger share, the electricity sector keeps a large share of investment, which accounts for 44% from 2015 to 2018 (Figure 5).

In terms of the share of private finance in infrastructure investment, the private sector still plays significant role despite its share is slightly decreasing (the share was highest in 2008 (37% of total investment), and currently 25% of total investment in 2018).



Figure 4. PPI in India (Source: Made by author from PPI Database by the World Bank)



Figure 5. The share of each sectors in terms of number of project (% of total) (Source: Made by author from PPI Database by the World Bank)

### (Economic profile of India)

India has been one of the fastest growing countries in the world. In the late 2000s, the growth rate in India reached 7.5%, which doubled the average income in India in a decade. Today, although per capita income is small, India has become a six-largest economy in the world. Also, there has been a positive improvement in most of the indicators such as domestic savings and domestic capital (Sahoo and Dash 2009).

Before 1991, the Indian economy was stagnant because of its centralized economic planning with extensive regulatory controls by the government over the economy, in other words, inward-looking import substitution model of development (Wadhva 2004).

However, since 1991, the series of reforms in India started to liberalize its economy and expand the role of private and foreign investment (Sahoo and Dash 2009). The reforms conducted in the area of trade, industry, infrastructure, finance, and FDI (Wadhva 2004). The aim of these reforms was to open India's markets to international competition, encourage private investment and participation in various sectors including infrastructure, to admit access to foreign capital and attract them to promote economic growth (Wadhva 2004).

#### (Promotion of Private Participation in India)

As India continues its economic growth, they face large gaps in the supply and demand of its infrastructure (Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank 2006). Growing economy increased industrial activity, population growth and immigration to urban areas led to an enormous demand for better quality and coverage of infrastructure services (Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank 2006).

The weak infrastructure is regarded as one of the hinderance of development in India (Sahoo and Dash 2009; Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank 2006). In almost all infrastructure indicator, such as electric power consumption per capita, paved roads, or rail route per sq.km, lag behind many of other developing countries in Asia (Sahoo and Dash 2009). (Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank 2006) estimated that these deficits of infrastructure cost India 1-2% growth in GDP every year.

In order to keep its growth, it is essential to strengthen infrastructure facilities (Sahoo and Dash 2009), however, there is a huge gap between the demand and the supply. For example, the government of India estimates that India needs 4.5 trillion US\$ for necessary infrastructure investment through 2040, which is considerably more than India's GDP of 2.6 trillion US\$ in 2017 (S & P Global 2018). Another estimate by Sahoo and Dash (2009) suggested that infrastructure sector currently attracts investment of around 5% of the gross domestic product (GDP), but it needs to be increased up to 10% to meet its increasing infrastructure demand.

Because of this, it is very difficult to fill this gap by the public sector alone due to its limited capacity to increase infrastructure investment. In addition to limited government's revenue restriction, their borrowing has also been capped by the Fiscal Responsibility and Budgetary Management Act (Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank 2006). Because of this, the government emphasized private sector participation to fill the infrastructure gap.

Strictly speaking, the beginning of PPP in India goes back to around 1900s, when private firms already started to invest railroad and power sector (Singh 2017). However, the boom of private infrastructure investment started in the 2000s. The Committee on Infrastructure (currently the Cabinet Committee on Infrastructure (CCI)) was established in 2004, which conducted a series of reforms to promote private investment in infrastructure projects.

## (Institutional framework)

There are several institutions which support and promote PPP projects in India. In 2005, the PPP Appraisal Committee was established. The PPP Appraisal Committee is in charge of the process of scrutinizing, appraisals and project approvals (The Economist 2018; Ramakrishnan 2014). After that, the PPP Cell was established in 2006. The PPP Cell is located in the Department of Economic Affairs (DEA) under the Ministry of Finance, plays a central role in coordinating PPP projects, examining agreement from financial aspects (The Economist 2018; ESCAP 2017b) This PPP cells are also established at the local level (ESCAP 2017b). In addition, the government established supplemental institutions such as Empowered Committee for speeding up the approval process for PPP projects, Committee on knowledge management and dissemination for expanding PPP knowledge and procedures (WSP 2010).

There is also a kind of public relation scheme in India. The website for promoting PPP and providing related information of PPP project was also established. A database of PPP project is also available, which enable users to access the essential information on PPP project, such as collaborating government department, capital commitments and so on. (WSP 2010).

### (Regulatory Framework)

In terms of the regulatory framework, a series of the amendment of related Laws has already started from the 1990s. For example, the government allowed private participation in the power sector in 1991, and the National Highways Act was amended in 1995 to empower private support (Singh 2017). In addition to legal framework, the government of India published guidelines for PPP project to clarify the regulatory framework and streamline PPP process (ESCAP 2017b).The model agreement of concession has also been developed by different ministries to support contract negotiation (ESCAP 2017b; WSP 2010).

These institutional and regulatory frameworks are regarded developed well compared to other Asian countries. For example, in the Infrascope index, India have relatively good score than average, regulation scores 77 (developed) and institutions 94 (matured) which ranks 4 and 3 respectively (The Economist 2018). In addition, the scores of Procuring Infrastructure PPPs are relatively higher than other Asian countries: Preparation (82), Procurement (72), Contract Management (80).

## (What did bring the increase of PPI in India? (Successful PPI improvement until 2010))

According to the PPI Database, India attracted most PPI project from 2008 to 2012. Among developing countries, India accounted for almost half of the investment in PPI projects during 2011 (Saha 2017).

Many pieces of literature regard this success as the result of encouraging policy, and initiatives for regulatory and institution which discussed above (Saha 2017; Telang and Kutumbale 2014).

In addition, from foreign investors' point of view, India is an attractive destination for FDI. Since the 1980s, India conducted a series of reforms to liberalize its economy, including reforms in FDI restriction, foreign exchange regulation, and taxation system (Gautam and Gautam 2014). As shown in Table 8, the FDI restrictiveness index decreased gradually, and the electricity and transport sector show significantly lower scores among others. Thermal power plant, renewable plant and, road and highway sector does not have FDI investment cap, and can enjoy other incentives such as tax break (Invest India 2020; Sinha 2010).

	Year		
1997	2003	2010	2018
0.488	0.463	0.313	0.213
0.227	0.11	0.063	0.041
0.15	0.13	0.05	0.064
0.638	0.597	0.412	0.314
0.45	0.37	0.271	0.093
1	1	0.463	0.28
0.7	0.7	0.425	0.175
1	1	1	0.95
0.48	0.418	0.283	0.209
	1997 0.488 0.227 0.15 0.638 0.45 1 0.7 1 0.7	Year           1997         2003           0.488         0.463           0.227         0.11           0.15         0.13           0.638         0.597           0.45         0.37           1         1           0.7         0.7           1         1           0.48         0.418	Year1997200320100.4880.4630.3130.2270.110.0630.150.130.050.6380.5970.4120.450.370.271110.4630.70.70.4251110.480.4180.283

#### Table 8. FDI restrictiveness index in Vietnam

(Source: made by author from OECD(n.d.))

Futhermore, the increase of PPP projects was promoted by the innovative financing support mechanism established by the government of India (Saha 2017). For example, the Viability Gap Funding (VGF) scheme was introduced in 2006. VGF is a special facility in order to sustain and enhance the financial viability of infrastructure projects which are justifiable economically but not viable commercially (Ramakrishnan 2014; WSP 2010; Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank 2006). It involves upfront grant aid of up to 20% of the project total cost for major PPP projects that are executed by a private sector developer who is chosen through competitive bidding (Ramakrishnan 2014; Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank 2006). In addition, India Infrastructure Finance Company Limited (IIFCL) was established in 2006 in order to provide long-term financial assistance to infrastructure projects, with either direct lending or refinance scheme. One of the objectives of IIFCL is to facilitate finance from long-term investors (such as pension funds and insurance companies) and foreign investors (Chong and Poole 2013). IIFCL raises funds which are financed by both domestic and international investors and refinance these funds into the PPP projects. Also, IIFCL provides credit guarantee program to improve the credit rating of bonds issued by infrastructure firms to AA or higher. Also, as with the case of Vietnam, India also does not distinguish domestic and foreign investors so that foreign investor also can take advantage of these measures (JETRO 2019b).

Attractive environment for FDI accompanied with these incentive schemes successfully made infrastructure project attractive for private firms and contributed to the high competition in the PPP market in India (Verougstraete and Kang 2014). As depicted in Table 9, although domestic investment accounts for a large part of PPI, foreign investors also contributed to the increase of PPI until 2010. The PPI with foreign investors was 517 million US\$ from 1990 to 1995, but increased dramatically to 18574 million from 2005 to 2009.

	1990-1994	1995-1999	2000-2004	2005-2009	2010-2014	2015-2018
Domestic	1571 (7)	3168 (54)	6662 (71)	59751 (209)	113159 (391)	20224 (123)
Foreign	517 (4)	6941 (28)	3622 (34)	18574 (50)	18451 (74)	3793 (41)
Not Mentioned	125 (1)	269 (2)	1719 (4)	1596 (8)	2586 (4)	1000 (11)
Total	2213 (12)	734 (84)	12002 (109)	79921 (267)	135195 (469)	25017 (175)

### Table 9. Total Investment (million USD) (and the number of project) of PPI

(Source: Made by author from PPI Database by the World Bank)

### (Some reasons for recent decline of PPI)

India experienced successful expansion of private investment in infrastructure in the 2000s, however, the amount of private investment began to decrease from 2010.

The limited financing capacity is one of the causes of the decline in infrastructure investment in India. In terms of debt financing, Infrastructure Finance Company Limited (IIFCL) is an essential provider of finance of infrastructure projects (Verougstraete and Kang 2014; IDFC 2013). However, it has become difficult to obtain financial support from these facilities due to its bank balance sheets reaching its limit so that there is only little room left for them to provide additional financial investment in infrastructure (Verougstraete and Kang 2014).

There is also a limitation of availability of equity that has been providing the necessary finance for infrastructure project usually provided by the construction company (Verougstraete and Kang 2014). The government tightened its policy for equity requirement. For example, the percentage of equity that developers need to invest before starting loan disbursement became 50% in most cases from 20-30% in the past, which brought additional financial cost on private firms<sup>12</sup> (Verougstraete and Kang 2014; IDFC 2013).

These changes reduce the incentives of investment in infrastructure for private firms so that the amount of investment in infrastructure reduced.

An aggressive bidding also caused the decline of PPI. A lack of ability of forecasting and weaknesses in the process of bidding has resulted in aggressive bidding (The Economist 2018). Private firms bid aggressively on infrastructure project based on the overestimation of rapid traffic growth, and they avoid incorporating some risks to reduce cost (The Economist 2018). These create the loss of private firms. In addition, the lack of coordination within the government agencies leads to the delay in land acquisition, which causes delay of overall project implementation (The Economist 2018). These increased risk of loss and private financing regarded infrastructure asset as risky asset and turned its funds into other sectors (Saha 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> In general, the finance structure of infrastructure projects consists of two main financial sources: equity and debt. Debt generally requires lower returns than equity in the form of interest, so that investors prefer debt than equity (APMG 2016).

In summary, India experienced rapid expansion of PPI in the 2000s. In addition to the good institutional and regulatory framework, the financial support schemes such as IIFCL and VGF reduce the risk of investing infrastructure and relaxed FDI restriction promoted investment in infrastructure, especially in electricity and road sector.

#### 4. STUDY OF FAILURE CASES (PHILIPPINES AND MALAYSIA)

This section focuses on the case of Philippines and Malaysia. These two countries failed to increase PPI, 15% and - 58% growth from the 1990s to 2010s, respectively. As with the previous section, these two countries have different quality of regulatory and institutional framework of PPP. Philippines has a better framework of PPP, while Malaysia has an inferior framework.

The former chapter showed that the FDI is important in increasing PPI, and the example of Vietnam showed that the removing FDI restriction could promote infrastructure investment regardless of the country's quality of regulatory and institutional framework of PPP. On the other hand, Philippines and Malaysia were stagnant in PPP and showed higher FDI restriction in Table 5 compared to the former two countries. Following subsections discusses more detail about Philippine and Malaysia, focusing on PPP and FDI environment.

#### **4.1 PHILIPPINES**

Figure 6 depicts the amount of PPI investment in the Philippines from 1990 to 2018. The investment of PPI reaches its peak in 1997 and this is brought by two big water and sewage project; privatization of Manila water company and Maynilad Water Services. The PPI seems to be stagnant during the period, the average of PPI in the 1990s is 2036 million US\$, 1545 million US\$ in the 2000s, and 2328 million US\$ in the 2010s. The growth rate of PPI from the 1990s to the 2010s is only 14%, significantly small compared to those of India (994%) and Vietnam (1827%).

Although the PPI was stagnant during the period, public expenditure on infrastructure increased. The government infrastructure investment was only 1.8% of GDP in 2010 (equivalent to 3.2 billion USD), but increased to 6.2% of GDP in 2018 (Padin 2019; Toledo 2016). This means the share of private investment is decreasing due to the growth of government expenditure on infrastructure. The estimation by Schuster et al. (2017) suggested that most of the funding for infrastructure comes from the government and only 27 % of them comes from private sector.

In terms of sectors, electricity sectors dominate the PPI throughout the period (Figure 7).



Figure 6. PPI in Philippines (Source: Made by author from PPI Database by the World Bank)



Figure 7. The share of each sectors in terms of number of project (% of total) (Source: Made by author from PPI Database by the World Bank)

## (Economic profile of Philippines)

The economy of the Philippines is growing rapidly these days. The average economic growth rate of the state is 6.2% per year from 2011 to 2017. According to the 2017 statistics by the International Monetary Fund, the nominal GDP of the country was the 34th largest in the world

and 13th in Asia. The government of Philippine desires to keep this growth, and the strategic goal to continue its GDP growth of 7 to 8% per year and to reach the upper middle-income country group by 2022 was announced in the Philippine Development Plan 2017–2022.

## (Insufficient infrastructure)

However, public investment, especially in infrastructure, is insufficient to meet these goals. Currently, the quantity and the quality of infrastructure are very poor compared to other Asian countries. In terms of the quantity, the government has underinvested in the infrastructure sector for decades (Schuster et al. 2017). The public capital stock of the Philippines at 35% of GDP, which is less than half of the average of the ASEAN countries (Schuster et al. 2017). In terms of the quality, the ranking of country's infrastructure competitiveness was 97th place out of 137 countries, quite behind regional rivals such as Indonesia (52nd), Thailand (43th), and Malaysia (22nd) (World Economic Forum 2018).

This inferior infrastructure can be a bottleneck of the economic development and considered as one of the top three "most problematic factors" in doing business in the Philippines (Schuster et al. 2017). These impede economic growth and it is necessary to ramp up infrastructure investment to achieve the targeted 7 to 8% economic growth which the government envisaged in the national development plan (Asian Development Bank 2018; Schuster et al. 2017). In addition, the country's expanding population, growing economy, and rapid urbanization accompanied by its archipelagic geography will require more infrastructure investment (Asian Development Bank 2018).

In order to address this challenge, Build, Build, Build (BBB) program was launched in 2017. This is a comprehensive infrastructure development program which aims to attract infrastructure investments, generate jobs, connect regions and promote economic growth (Schuster et al. 2017). Under the BBB program, the public infrastructure investment is required to increase up to 7.4 % of GDP by 2022 (Schuster et al. 2017).

However, it must be difficult to satisfy the massive need for infrastructure by public investment alone (Schuster et al. 2017). The additional revenue is necessary for the government to generate an extra budget to increase infrastructure investment, but this requires comprehensive tax reform (Schuster et al. 2017). Therefore, the need for private investment will be higher to ensure the achievement of BBB program (Schuster et al. 2017).

#### (Regulation and Institutional framework for Private participation)

After the collapse of the marital regime of the Marcos Administration, the privatization of public asset acquired during the martial regime and the movement of using the private sector has started. As a part of this process, a series of reforms to promote PPP also has started.

From the 1990s, the government of the Philippines recognized the importance and benefits of private participation in infrastructure investment across different sectors. So that the Philippines has more than 20 years experiences in PPP and the first country to give a legal framework to PPP in Asia (ESCAP 2017b). The beginning of the history of PPP in Philippine was 1990 when the government passed the Build-Operate-Transfer (BOT) Law to legalize the PPP. It was amended in 1994 in order to add other types of PPP such as Build-Own-Operate (BOO), Build and Transfer (BT), and Build-Lease-Transfer (BLT). The 2012 amendment expanded the list of PPP government implementing agencies, and putting incentives of private participation, and allowing unsolicited proposals.

In terms of institutional framework, the BOT center was established by the BOT Law in 1990 to promote BOT projects in the Philippines. After that, the BOT Centre was reorganized into the Public-Private Partnership Centre (PPP Centre) by executive order (EO) No.8 series of 2010. The PPP Centre now belongs to the agency of the National Economic and Development Authority (NEDA). The PPP Centre provides consulting services to promote the development of PPP projects, provides technical assistance, strengthens the capacity of national and local government's implementing agencies, advocate policy reforms, and monitors PPP projects and its implementation. In addition, the Centre is also responsible for commercial financial viability analysis, Value-for-Money analysis, and financial structuring.

The Project Development and Monitoring Facility (PDMF) was also established under the management of the PPP Centre. PDMF is a revolving fund which is supported by the Philippines government, the Australian government and the Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA). The objective of the PDMF is to provide facilitate preparation and monitoring of PPP projects and provide funding. In addition, the PPP Governing Board (PPPGB) was created in 2013. PPPGB is responsible for overall policy-making and setting the strategic direction for PPP related issues. Secretary of Socio-Economic Planning is a chairman of PPPGB and the PPP Centre reports to the PPPFB directly.

To sum up, institutional and regulatory frameworks for PPPs in the Philippines are well structured and established. Infrascope index is the highest (81) among four selected countries in this paper, and the country also has good score in the Procuring Infrastructure PPPs: Preparation (85), Procurement (76), Contract Management (88), Unsolicited Proposals (83).

#### (Why was the PPI in Philippines stagnant?)

In the former two successful cases, the countries prepare attractive environments to promote FDI. What about in the Philippines? Unlike the successful cases, there are some limitations which disincentivize the participation of foreign firms.

Table 10 shows the FDI restrictiveness index in Philippines. Although the score gradually decreased, it is still high compared to Vietnam and India. The restriction of nationality is one reason for this. The constitution of the Philippines, and as in the BOT Law, requires that infrastructure facility's operation and management firms must be owned by at least 60% of Filipinos and registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission of the Philippines, for industries listed in the "Foreign Investment Negative List" which includes PPP project (Ito 2018; The Economist 2018; Rickards and Hermelin 2015; Ang 2015). This consequently limits the ability for participation by foreign sponsors and investors (Rickards and Hermelin 2015). According to this, the top 6 sponsors for infrastructure investment in the Philippine during 1990-2017 are all local conglomerates (Ito

2018), in other words, the state failed to attract foreign investors (Ang 2015). Also, according to PPI database by the World Bank, the most of PPI in recent decades comes from domestic investors, while those from foreign firms was decreasing (Table 11). In addition, FDI attractiveness index is also small compared to other countries: 41.1 in Philippines while 43.1 in India and 45.9 in Vietnam.

FDI restrictiveness index (2018)				
Sector / Industry	1997	2003	2010	2018
Primary	0.694	0.644	0.644	0.644
Secondary	0.252	0.187	0.18	0.164
Electricity	0.505	0.455	0.455	0.365
Tertiary	0.59	0.485	0.485	0.409
Transport	0.705	0.655	0.655	0.655
Media	0.958	0.925	0.925	0.913
Communications	0.715	0.665	0.665	0.65
Real estate investment	0.575	0.525	0.525	0.525
Total FDI Index	0.501	0.419	0.417	0.374

Table 10. FDI restrictiveness index in Vietnam

(Source: made by author from OECD(n.d.))

Table 11. Total Investment (million US\$) (and the number of project) of	Table 11	1. Total Investment	(million	US\$)	(and the	number	of pro	oject)	of P	ΡI
--	----------	---------------------	----------	-------	----------	--------	--------	--------	------	----

	1990-1994	1995-1999	2000-2004	2005-2009	2010-2014	2015-2018
Domestic	1029 (12)	3263 (13)	1336 (20)	3918 (28)	3455 (20)	9336 (18)
Foreign	2630 (16)	13381 (19)	2946 (10)	7252 (12)	2467 (11)	4343 (7)
Not Mentioned	55 (1)	0	0	0	1127 (2)	390 (2)
Total	3714 (29)	16644 (32)	4282 (30)	11170 (40)	7050 (33)	14069 (27)

(Source: Made by author from PPI Database by the World Bank)

The current government also shows a negative attitude toward private participation. Although it expressed their will to support PPP projects, it has also announced its preference for hybrid PPP projects (The Economist 2018). The hybrid PPP means that the government is responsible for infrastructure development, and then the private sector is involved in its operation and maintenance (The Economist 2018). Also, the government seems to prefer the traditional public investment, arguing that this reduces time and cost of project preparation and implementation (The Economist 2018).

This policy shift comes from the failure of the PPP project during former Aquino administration. In the period, 28 PPP project ware approved. However, only 12 projects were concluded, and only three projects were completed during the Aquino administration (Ito 2018). These were mainly caused by the delay of the bidding process, contract negotiation, and inefficiency of the government to reach a final decision (Ito 2018). In addition, there are several other issues related to infrastructure investment. At first, despite improvements of the institutional and regulatory framework of PPP, the revisions made since 2010 are not still be implemented (The Economist 2018). Also, there is no requirement for publishing the PPP contract and there is no independent dispute resolution organization (The Economist 2018).

The government prepares multiyear obligation authority to assure markets that the government will provide budget cover for the payments in succeeding budgets (Schuster et al. 2017). However, private investors have stated discomfort with this system because it does not give a guarantee that Congress would pass the required amounts on an annual basis (Schuster et al. 2017). This uncertainty also hinders private participation.

In summary, Philippine failed to expand private participation in infrastructure projects. It is partly because the current administration put a priority on public procurement instead of PPP. Also, the environment for foreign investors seems not to be favorable because they have to find a partner which can be responsible for 60% of the project. Also, the FDI attractiveness index is smaller than other countries. These negative environments result in the decrease of the share of FDI in these days and the stagnant of PPI in Philippine.

#### 4.2 MALAYSIA

Private infrastructure investment in Malaysia fluctuate in a zigzag line from 1990 to 2018; however, there is a trend of decrease throughout the period (The World Bank 2019) (Figure 8). The average of PPI in the 1990s is 2368 million US\$ per year, 1917 million US\$ per year in the 2000s, and dropped to 1090 million US\$ per year in the 2010s. The peak of its PPI is at 1994. The total investment in that year was 4215 million US\$ and the number of projects was 16. It is more than twice as the average of the 2010s.

In terms of sectors, water and sewerage, and roads sectors attract a certain amount of investment during the 1990s and the 2000s. However, the share of electricity gradually increased and accounted for over 80% of total investment after 2015 (Figure 9). The boom of privatization, which is discussed later, can explain this phenomenon because various public companies in different sectors privatized in the 1990s.



Figure 8. PPI in Malaysia (Source: Made by author from PPI Database by the World Bank)



Figure 9. The share of each sectors in terms of number of project (% of total) (Source: Made by author from PPI Database by the World Bank)

## (Economic profile of Malaysia)

From its independence, the economy of Malaysia has been growing at a rapid pace. The growth rate has ranged between 5% to 9 % a year in most years. As a result, Malaysia is categorized middle-income countries today, in which the average income is about 10,000 US\$ in

2018 (The World Bank n.d.). The population is growing over the years. The total population in 1960 was about 8 million, but increased to about 31 million in 2017, about four times larger than after independence, and expected to increase more in the future (The World Bank n.d.).

In line with the increase of its population, the urbanization is also progressing in Malaysia. In the 1991 population Census, the total urban population of Malaysia was reported at 7.68 million (54.3% of the total population). It is estimated that the urban population would grow to 20 million (or 80.0%) by the year 2020 (Salleh and Okinono 2016).

### (The need for private investment)

The infrastructure in Malaysia is well developed than other Asian developing countries (Naidu 2008). The government was eager to invest in infrastructure after the independence and infrastructure investment was one of the priorities in every one of the Malaysia development plans (Naidu 2008).

As discussed above, the need for infrastructure is expected to increase because of economic development, rapid population expansion, and urbanization created much pressure for the provision of adequate and sufficient infrastructure (Salleh and Okinono 2016; Salleh and Siong 2008). However, from the early 1990s, the government of Malaysia suffered from resource constraints so that it became necessary for them to encourage private participation in infrastructure investment (Naidu 2008; Salleh and Siong 2008).

#### (Regulation and Institutional framework for Private participation)

The history of the involvement of the private sector in infrastructure is not new in Malaysia (Ismail and Harris 2014; Salleh and Siong 2008). The Malaysian Incorporated Policy in 1983 and the Privatization Master Plan in 1991 encouraging cooperation and partnership between the private and public firms and privatization of public companies (Ismail and Harris 2014; Salleh and Siong 2008). However, it is not until the announcement of the Ninth Malaysia Plan in 2006 that PPP was officially announced by the government of Malaysia as an alternative method of providing the public service (Ismail and Harris 2014; Salleh and Siong 2008).

In the 1970s and 80s, the public sector entities dominated the Malaysian economy in the various sectors. This is because many public enterprises were established in order to promote the participation of the Malay and to promote development (Lai et al. 2018). However, due to the high burden on the government to maintain SOEs, the 1990s saw the boom for privatizations, including communications, transport, and public utility sectors (Rashid 2014). As a matter of fact, the share of brownfield projects, which changes operation or management of existing infrastructure, in the PPI database is about 40% in the 1990s in Malaysia, but there are no brownfield projects in the 2010s.

Because of the official announcement of promoting PPP by the government was in 2006, it was not until 2009 that the PPP unit was established. The Public-Private Partnership Unit, which is called Unit Kerjasama Awan Swasta (UKAS), was established in 2009 under the Prime Minister's

Department. UKAS is in charge of the execution and development of the PPP projects, including recommending, screening, evaluating, and negotiating the PPP projects. In addition, UKAS also manages the Facilitation Fund. Facilitation Fund was launched under the Tenth Malaysia Plan from 2011. The Funds allocate grants to fill the viability gap (ESCAP 2017b).

Also, the Public-Private Partnership Committee, chaired by the director general of UKAS, supervises the evaluation of PPP projects (ESCAP 2017b).

In terms of regulatory framework, there is no fundamental law for PPP in Malaysia (Baker and Mckenzie 2015). PPP projects are prepared and implemented under the guidelines in addition to the individual law for each sector. The Guideline on Public-Private Partnership, which was published in 2009, give information about the PPP framework, the selection procedures and the requirements for the PPP project and companies, however, these guidelines and laws do not have detailed procedures and process (Zawawi et al. 2016; Baker and Mckenzie 2015). Also, investors regarded that insufficient guideline is one of the hindrances of promoting PPP (Ismail and Harris 2014).

Overall, it can be said that the Malaysian framework for PPP is relatively weak, although they established institutional frameworks such as UKAS. As a matter of fact, the scores of Procuring Infrastructure PPPs are significantly lower than other Asian countries: Preparation (50), Procurement (42), Contract Management (33), Unsolicited Proposal (38).

### (Why was the PPI in Malaysia stagnant?)

In addition to the insufficiency of the government guidelines, Ismail and Harris (2014) pointed out other possible challenges in implementing PPP projects; lengthy delays due to negotiation and political debate, higher charge to direct users, and confusion over government objectives and evaluation criteria. However, in addition to the reasons discussed above, the restriction on foreign investors participation can explain the stagnation of PPI. One reason behind this is that although the FDI attractiveness index in Malaysia is higher than other three countries (54.3), the attitude of Malaysia toward foreign investment is conservative, and they provide a favourable environment only for Malaysian, especially for "bumiputras". In the 1970s, the government implemented "Bumiputra policies," which is designed to support bumiputras, the local Malay ethnic. The policy is intended to create more opportunities for the Malay, includes affirmative action in the public sector, including infrastructure provision. For example, there is some regulation to reserve equity in businesses for the Malay. The Bumiputra policies were initially designed as a temporary measure to fix economic disparity between the Malay and other ethnic groups such as Chinese and Indian, but these policies are still in effect and have an influence on the various sectors in Malaysia.

Sector-wise, although the government of Malaysia removed part of restriction on foreign investment with the abolishment of the Foreign Investment Committee in 2009, foreign investment restrictions remain in some specific sectors (Shira 2015). Some part of infrastructures such as electricity, water, and telecommunications are under the restriction (Shira 2015). Respective Ministries impose these restrictions rather than centrally regulated, and the Ministries have discretional powers to impose conditions on a project, including foreign equity limits (Shira 2015). As a matter of fact, the FDI restrictiveness index in Malaysia is higher compared to other countries, especially in the electricity sector (Table 12 and Table 5).

FDI restrictiveness index				
Sector / Industry	1997	2003	2010	2018
Primary	0.38	0.37	0.295	0.295
Secondary	0.431	0.261	0.112	0.112
Electricity	0.61	0.6	0.5	0.5
Tertiary	0.629	0.608	0.402	0.326
Transport	0.427	0.396	0.296	0.296
Media	0.585	0.575	0.525	0.525
Communications	0.76	0.75	0.7	0.375
Real estate investment	0.55	0.55	0.25	0.3
Total FDI Index	0.521	0.455	0.29	0.252

Table 12. FDI restrictiveness index in Malaysia

(Source: made by author from OECD(n.d.))

In the manufacturing sector, 100 % of foreign equity is generally permitted (Shira 2015), so that, generally speaking, Malaysia's FDI is gradually increasing (Department of Statistics Malaysia 2018). However, in the electric sector which consist major part of PPI, foreign equity participation in projects is capped at 49 % and that exception to this policy will be considered on a case-by-case basis (Aziz and Khor 2018; Koji and Yoshiya 2017).

In the electric sector, historically, Tenaga Nasional Berhad (TNB) is a monopoly company in the energy sector, which had the exclusive license to generate and distribute electricity in the country (Aziz and Khor 2018). However, after the national wide blackout in 1992 that brought huge economic loss throughout the country, the series of reforms in the electricity sector was implemented in order to promote private participation and competition (Mody 1997). Independent power producers (IPPs) are allowed to enter the electricity generation market, and they can sell the electricity to the TNB under the power purchase agreements (PPAs) (Aziz and Khor 2018). However, there are no PPAs which had been granted to foreign firms before 2015 (Aziz and Khor 2018). The first exception that the Malaysian government made was for the project which China General Nuclear invested, and it was the first case that the government made an exception to allow a non-Malaysian firm to acquire 100 % of the equity of an IPP (Aziz and Khor 2018).

There are also similar restrictions in the renewable sector. In Malaysia, a small renewable electricity company can apply to SEDA<sup>13</sup> in order to participate in the feed-in tariff scheme. The feed-in tariff is relatively higher than those of the general cost of electricity so that these

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Sustainable Energy Development Authority of Malaysia is a statutory body established under the Sustainable Energy Development Authority Act 2011 to manage the mechanism of the feed-in tariff in Malaysia under the Renewable Energy Act 2011.

incentivize the private firms to invest in the renewable energy sector. However, the scheme also has a restriction on foreign participation (Aziz and Khor 2018).

According to these facts, it can be said that the abundant brownfield project due to boom for privatization policy attracted foreign investors in 1990s<sup>14</sup>, however, it decreased in the 2000s and 2010s because of the decrease of brownfield projects and restrictions on foreign investors.

In summary, the boom for privatization attracted private participation in the 1990s, however, foreign investment restriction accompanied with poor regulatory framework for PPP and decline of boom for privatization, Malaysian PPI shows stagnation after the 1990s.

	1990-1994	1995-1999	2000-2004	2005-2009	2010-2014	2015-2018
Domestic	10373 (23)	7470 (28)	14910 (33)	3902 (15)	3976 (10)	141 (2)
Foreign	1933 (6)	896 (3)	289 (3)	48 (1)	58 (2)	4511 (3)
Not Mentioned	1671 (3)	1338(3)	16(5)	0	253 (1)	72 (1)
Total	3714 (32)	9704 (34)	4282 (41)	3950 (16)	7050 (13)	4724 (6)

Table 13. Total Investment (million USD) (and the number of project) of PPI

(Source: Made by author from PPI Database by the World Bank)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Brownfield project uses existing infrastructure, so that there is less risk and more possibility to make a profit than greenfield project, which require investors to build infrastructure. In addition, brownfield projects enable investors to enjoy more immediate access to the profit so that they can invest other assets soon. These factors disincentivize the investors to invest greenfield project (APMG 2016).

#### **5. CONCLUSION**

This study analysed the key factors which promoted private infrastructure investment through four case studies; Vietnam, India, Philippines, and Malaysia.

In the case study of successful countries, we focused on Vietnam and India. The key factor of these two success cases is the measure which incentivizes the participation of the private sector and the favourable environment for foreign investors. In the case of Vietnam, although they do not have a notable regulatory and institutional framework, they provide a preferable environment for the electricity sector. In line with the reform of EVN, which monopolized electricity sector, Vietnam liberalized electricity sector and introduced various measures to promote private investment such as GGU and feed-in tariffs. India also experienced rapid growth of PPI until 2010. In addition to the good institutional and regulatory framework, the financial support schemes such as IIFCL and VGF reduce the risk of investing infrastructure and incentivize private firms to invest infrastructure. It is worth to mention that both two countries do not have a restriction on the participation of foreign investors, and their FDI restrictiveness index in particular sector is very small. So that foreign investors also can take advantages of these supporting environment, increasing private investment with foreign participation. Also, it is worth to mention that the FDI attractiveness index in these two countries is lower than Malaysia but Vietnam and India increased FDI and PPI significantly. In summary, Vietnam and India succeed to attract FDI to infrastructure investment with its measures to promote private investment and non-discriminatory environment for foreign investors. As a result, the overall PPI increased dramatically.

On the other hand, this study focused on the Philippines and Malaysia as failure cases. Philippines regulatory and institutional framework for PPP is evaluated higher than other Asian countries, including Vietnam and India. However, Philippine failed to expand private participation in infrastructure projects in these days. One of the reasons for this stagnant discussed above is that the poor environment for foreign investors. The government of the Philippines requires infrastructure facility's operation and management firms to be owned by at least 60% of Filipinos and registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission of the Philippines. Malaysia experienced a decline of PPI from 2368 million US\$ per year on average in the 1990s to 1090 million US\$ per year in the 2010s. Although the regulatory and institutional framework for PPP is not so good compared to other Asian countries, Malaysia's boom for privatization attracted many private investments including foreign investment in the 1990s. However, after the boom in the 1990s, foreign investment restriction accompanied by poor regulatory and institutional framework caused the decline of PPI. In summary, these two countries' nationality restriction hinders the participation of foreign investors and it gradually decreases as the number of attractive brownfield projects (such as privatization of existing utility companies) decreases. As a result, the Philippines and Malaysia had to rely on domestic investors, resulting in the stagnation of PPI because the capability of domestic investors is limited and cannot expand to increase investment so rapidly.

It is worth noting that Vietnam, with weak institutional and regulatory framework for PPP, could achieve more growth in PPI, especially in electricity sector where FDI restriction is very small, than the Philippines, which is regarded to have one of the most significant environments for PPP. This fact suggests the possibility that some countries can increase PPI by removing the restriction on FDI. On the other hand, as discussed in section 2.5, there are complex factors that determine the FDI so that further research on other factors (i.e., macroeconomic environment, market size, growth rate) is necessary. However, considering the fact that Malaysia has the highest FDI attractiveness index and the discussion above, it could be said that the abolition of this restriction to boost private infrastructure investment regardless of the quality of their regulatory and institutional framework for PPP.

### References

Alfen, H.W., Kalidindi, S., Ogunlana, S., Wang, S. and Abednego, M. (2009). *Public-Private Partnership in infrastructure development: case studies from Asia and Europe*. Weimar: Verl. der Bauhaus-Univ. [online]. Available from:

https://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/56429/1/630589232.pdf [Accessed June 6, 2019].

Ali, I. and Pernia, E. (2003). 'Infrastructure and Poverty Reduction - What is the Connection?' *ERD POLICY BRIEF SERIES*, 13.

Ang, J. (2015). '4 concrete ways to move the Philippines' public-private partnership programs forward'. *World Bank Blogs*. [online]. Available from: https://blogs.worldbank.org/ppps/4-concrete-ways-move-philippines-public-private-partnership-programs-forward [Accessed July 1, 2019].

APEC. (2018). *Peer Review and Capacity Building on APEC Infrastructure Development and Investment: Viet Nam*. [online]. Available from: https://www.apec.org/Publications/2018/05/Peer-Review-and-Capacity-Building-on-APEC-Infrastructure-Development-and-Investment---Viet-Nam [Accessed June 6, 2019].

APMG. (2016). *The APMG Public-Private Partnership (PPP) Certification Guide*. Washington, DC: The World Bank.

Aschauer, D.A. (1990). 'Why Is Infrastructure Important?' Conference Series, 34, pp.21-68.

Asian Development Bank. (2001). *Moving the poverty reduction agenda forward in Asia and the Pacific: the long-term strategic framework of the Asian Development Bank, 2001-2015*. Manila: Asian Development Bank.

Asian Development Bank. (2011). *Asia 2050: Realizing the Asian Century*. Manila: Asian Development Bank.

Asian Development Bank. (2017). *Meeting Asia's infrastructure needs*. Manila: Asian Development Bank.

Asian Development Bank. (2018). *Proposed Policy-Based Loan for Subprogram 2 Republic of the Philippines: Expanding Private Participation in Infrastructure Program*. [online]. Available from: https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/project-documents/48458/48458-003-rrp-en.pdf [Accessed June 6, 2019].

Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank. (2006). *Facilitating Public Private Partnership for Accelerated Infrastructure Development in India.* [online]. Available from:

https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/project-document/66596/39659-ind-tacr.pdf [Accessed June 6, 2019].

Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank. (2018). *Strategy-on-Mobilizing-Private-Capital-for-Infrastructure.Technical-Note* [online]. Available from: https://www.aiib.org/en/policies-strategies/\_download/mobilizing\_private/Strategy-on-Mobilizing-Private-Capital-for-Infrastructure.Technical-Note.pdf [Accessed June 1, 2019].

Aziz, F.A. and Khor, K. (2018). 'The Energy Regulation and Markets Review - Edition 7 MALAYSIA'. *The Law Reviews*. [online]. Available from: https://thelawreviews.co.uk/edition/the-energy-regulation-and-markets-review-edition-7/1171261/malaysia [Accessed June 25, 2019].

Baietti, A. (2000). *Vietnam - Country Framework Report on Private Participation in Infrastructure*. Washington, DC: The World Bank.

Baker and Mckenzie. (2015). *ASEAN Infrafinance Legal Update (Vol. 4)*. [online]. Available from: http://www.bakermckenzie.co.jp/pdf/Newsletter\_201505\_ASEANInfrafinance\_Vol4\_E.pdf [Accessed June 25, 2019].

Bang, V.L. and Nghia, C.T. (2018). *A positive development: Vietnam's new PPP decree*. IFLR100. [online]. Available from: https://www.iflr1000.com/NewsAndAnalysis/A-positive-development-Vietnams-new-PPP-decree/Index/8800 [Accessed Feburary 10, 2020].

Booth, D., Hanmer, L. and Lovell, E. (2000). Poverty and Transport. London: ODI.

Chakrabarti, A. (2001). The Determinants of Foreign Direct Investments: Sensitivity Analyses of Cross-Country Regressions, KYKLOS, 54(1), pp.89-114.

Chong, S. and Poole, E. (2013). 'Financing Infrastructure: A Spectrum of Country Approaches'. *RBA Bulletin*, pp.65–76.

DFDL. (2019). *Vietnam Legal Update: Draft Public-Private Partnership Law*. [online]. https://www.dfdl.com/resources/legal-and-tax-updates/vietnam-legal-update-draft-public-privatepartnership-law/ [Accessed February 10, 2020].

Department of Statistics Malaysia. (2018). 'Statistics of Foreign Direct Investment in Malaysia, 2017'. *Department of Statistics Malaysia, Official Portal*. [online]. Available from: https://www.dosm.gov.my/v1/index.php?r=column/cthemeByCat&cat=322&bul\_id=TENVb0xWNX FiTnJ4ekk3R2d0NkFkdz09&menu\_id=azJjRWpYL0VBYU90TVhpclByWjdMQT09 [Accessed July 1, 2019].

DFID. (2007). 'Literature review on Private Sector Infrastructure Investment'. *DFID Working Paper*, 24.

DFID. (2002). Making connections: infrastructure for poverty reduction. London: DFID.

Dinh, Q.X. (2000). 'The Political Economy of Vietnam's Transformation Process'. *Contemporary Southeast Asia*, 22(2), pp.360–388.

ESCAP. (2017a). *Infrastructure Financing Strategies for Sustainable Development in Viet Nam*. [online]. Available from:

https://www.unescap.org/sites/default/files/20170915%20National%20Study%20-%20Infrastructu re%20Financing%20-%20Viet%20%20Nam.pdf [Accessed June 6, 2019].

ESCAP. (2017b). *PPP Policy, Legal and Institutional Frameworks in Asia and the Pacific*. [online]. Available from: https://www.unescap.org/resources/ppp-policy-legal-and-institutionalframeworks-asia-and-pacific [Accessed June 6, 2019].

Estache, A. (2006). *Infrastructure: A survey of recent and upcoming issues*. Washington, DC: The World Bank.

Estache, A., Serebrisky, T. and Wren-Lewis, L. (2015). 'Financing infrastructure in developing countries'. *Oxford Review of Economic Policy*, 31(3–4), pp.279–304.

Ghebrihiwet, N. and Motchenkova, E. (2017). 'Relationship between FDI, foreign ownership restrictions, and technology transfer in the resources sector: A derivation approach'. *Resources Policy*, 52, pp.320–326.

Ghosh, M., Syntetos, P. and Wang, W. (2012). 'Impact of FDI Restrictions on Inward FDI in OECD Countries'. *Global Economy Journal*, 12(3), p.1850265.

Hildyard, N. (2014). Public-Private Partnerships, Financial Extraction and the Growing Wealth Gap: Exploring the connections. [online]. Available from:

http://www.thecornerhouse.org.uk/resource/PPPs-extraction-wealth-gap [Accessed July 1, 2019].

Haslia, A., Hob, C. and Ibrahimc, N. A. (2015). Journal of Emerging Economies and Islamic Research, 3(3).

IDFC. (2013). *Annual Report 2012-2013*. [online]. Available from: http://www.idfc.com/pdf/IDFC\_16AR\_Shareholder\_2012\_13.pdf [Accessed June 6, 2019].

IMF. (2004). Public-Private Partnerships. [online]. Available from: https://www.imf.org/external/np/fad/2004/pifp/eng/031204.pdf [Accessed July 1, 2019].

IMF. (2017). 'Trends and Challenges in Infrastructure Investment in Low-Income Developing Countries'. *IMF Working Paper*. [online]. Available from:

http://elibrary.imf.org/view/IMF001/24677-9781484324837/24677-9781484324837/24677-9781484324837.xml [Accessed June 6, 2019].

Inderst, G. (2016). 'Infrastructure Investment, Private Finance, and Institutional Investors: Asia from a Global Perspective'. *ADBI Working Paper Series*, 555. [online]. Available from: http://www.ssrn.com/abstract=2721577 [Accessed June 6, 2019].

Invest India (2020). FDI Policy.[online]. available at: https://www.investindia.gov.in/foreign-direct-investment [Accessed February 10, 2020].

Ismail, S. and Harris, F.A. (2014). 'Challenges in Implementing Public Private Partnership (PPP) in Malaysia'. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 4(3), pp.238–250.

Ito, S. (2018). *Key Issues for PPP Infrastructure Development in Emerging Economies: A case of Dutertenomics in the Philippines*. [online]. Available from: https://www.isia.ip/Appual\_Monting/2018f\_Kwapsoi\_Gakuin\_Llniv/download/4.3.pdf[Accesso

https://www.jsie.jp/Annual\_Meeting/2018f\_Kwansei\_Gakuin\_Univ/download/4-3.pdf [Accessed July 1, 2019].

JETRO. (2019a). 'The promotion of foreign investment'. *JETRO*. [online]. Available from: https://www.jetro.go.jp/world/asia/in/invest\_02.html [Accessed July 1, 2019].

JETRO. (2019b). 'The restriction on foreign investment'. *JETRO*. [online]. Available from: https://www.jetro.go.jp/world/asia/in/invest\_02.html [Accessed July 1, 2019].

Kato, S. (2016). 'Study on Challenges and Solutions for Further Utilization of PPP (Public Private Partnership) as a New Means of Regional Development in Asian Developing Countries'. *Bulletin of the Graduate School, Toyo University*, 53, pp.17–37.

Kaminsky, J. (2017). Culturally appropriate organization of water and sewerage projects built through public private partnerships. *PLoS ONE*. 12(12). [online]. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5714333/pdf/pone.0188905.pdf [Accessed February 10, 2020].

Koji, Y. and Yoshiya, O. (2017). *Research study on basic information for Japanese infrastructural industry's overseas expansion*. [online]. Available from: http://www.mlit.go.jp/pri/houkoku/gaiyou/pdf/kkk142.pdf [Accessed June 25, 2019].

Kok, R. and Ersoy, B. A. (2009). Analyses of FDI determinants in developing countries. International Journal of Social Economics, 36(1/2), pp. 105-123.

Kim, J. and Poensgen K. (2019). TRANSITION FINANCE COUNTRY STUDY VIET NAM: ON THE THRESHOLD OF TRANSITION. OECD DEVELOPMENT CO-OPERATION WORKING PAPER 60. [online].

Available from: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/docserver/3cb86a6cen.pdf?expires=1581684881&id=id&accname=guest&checksum=9A38DB7CADDEE0881193A72F10 A656E4 [Accessed February 10, 2020].

Lai, F., Shad, M., Chow, Y.Y. and Wei, C.Y. (2018). 'Revisiting Privatization and Economic Growth in Malaysia: An Empirical Examination'. *SHS Web of Conferences*, 56.

Mahoney, J.T., McGahan, A.M. and Pitelis, C.N. (2009). 'Perspective - The Interdependence of Private and Public Interests'. *Organization Science*, 20(6), pp.1034–1052.

McKinsey. (2016). *BRIDGING GLOBAL INFRASTRUCTURE GAPS*. Brussels: McKinsey Global Institute. [online]. Available from: ttps://www.un.org/pga/71/wpcontent/uploads/sites/40/2017/06/Bridging-Global-In- frastructure-Gaps-Full-report-June-2016.pdf [Accessed May 1, 2019].

Mistura, F. and Roulet, C. (2019). *The determinants of Foreign Direct Investment: Do statutory restrictions matter*? [online]. Available from: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/finance-and-investment/the-determinants-of-foreign-direct-investment\_641507ce-en [Accessed June 28, 2019].

Mody, A. (1997). *Infrastructure strategies in East Asia: the untold story*. Washington, D.C: World Bank.

Naidu, G. (2008). 'Infrastructure Development in Malaysia'. In *International Infrastructure Development in East Asia – Towards Balanced Regional Development and Integration*. Chiba: IDE-JETRO, p. 25.

Nguyen, T.T. and van Dijk, M.A. (2012). 'Corruption, growth, and governance: Private vs. stateowned firms in Vietnam'. *Journal of Banking & Finance*, 36(11), pp.2935–2948.

Nhi, D.T. (2014). Vietnam Country Report. In F. Zen & M. Regan, eds. *Financing ASEAN Connectivity, ERIA Research Project Report FY2013*. Jakarta, pp. 397–425.

Nicoletti, G. et al. (2003). 'The Influence of Policies on Trade and Foreign Direct Investment'. *OECD Economic Studies*, 2003(1), pp.8–87.

Nishizawa, T. (2018). 'Infrastructure Investment and Finance in Asia'. *Public Policy Review*, 14(5), pp.925–954.

OECD. (2010). OECD's FDI Restrictiveness Index: 2010 Update.OECD Working Papers on International Investment 2010/03 [online]. available at: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/finance-and-investment/oecd-s-fdi-restrictiveness-index\_5km91p02zj7g-en [Accessed February 1, 2020].

OECD. (2011). *The Impact of Trade Liberalisation on Jobs and Growth: Technical Note*. Paris. [online]. Available from: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/trade/the-impact-of-trade-liberalisation-on-jobs-and-growth\_5kgj4jfj1nq2-en [Accessed June 29, 2019].

OECD. (2019). *Asia Development Aid at a Glance*. [online]. Available from: http://www.oecd.org/dac/financing-sustainable-development/development-finance-data/Asia-Development-Aid-at-a-Glance-2019.pdf [Accessed June 1, 2019].

Ohya, K., Bang, V.L. and Trang, N.V. (2019). 'The Public-Private Partnership Law Review - Edition 5 - VIETNAM'. *The Law Reviews*. [online]. Available from: https://thelawreviews.co.uk/edition/the-public-private-partnership-law-review-edition-5/1189723/vietnam [Accessed June 6, 2019].

Orum, A.M. (1991). A Case for the Case Study. NC: University of North Carolina Press.

Padin, M. (2019). 'Infrastructure-to-GDP ratio likely eased to 6.2% in 2018'. *Philstar Global*. [online]. Available from: https://www.philstar.com/business/2019/01/10/1883692/infrastructure-gdp-ratio-likely-eased-62-2018 [Accessed July 1, 2019].

Petrović-Ranđelović, M., Denčić-Mihajlov, K., & Milenković-Kerković, T. (2013). An analysis of the location determinants of foreign direct investment: the case of Serbia. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 81, pp.181-187.

Phi-lan, N. (2006). FOREIGN DIRECT INVESTMENT AND ITS LINKAGE TO ECONOMIC GROWTH IN VIETNAM: A PROVINCIAL LEVEL ANALYSIS. [online]. Available from: https://editorialexpress.com/cgi-bin/conference/download.cgi?db\_name=ESAM07&paper\_id=24 [Accessed June 6, 2019].

Ra, S. and Li, Z. (2018). 'Closing the Financing Gap in Asian Infrastructure'. *ADB South Asia Working Paper Series*, 57.

Ramakrishnan, T.S. (2014). 'Financing Infrastructure Projects through Public-Private Partnerships in India'. *Transportation Research Record*, 2450(1), pp.118–126.

Rashid, K.A. (2014). 'Public-private partnership and its significance for Malaysia'. *COMMONWEALTH Governance and Growth*, pp.54–57.

Riadh, B. J. (n.d.). A Global Foreign Direct Investment Country Attractiveness Index. [online]. available at: http://www.fdiattractiveness.com/ [Accessed February 1, 2020].

Rickards, M. and Hermelin, A. (2015). *Philippines PPP: Prospects and challenges.* [online]. Available from: https://www.ashurst.com/en/news-and-insights/legal-updates/philippines-ppp-prospects-and-challenges/ [Accessed July 1, 2019].

Roehrich, J.K., Lewis, M.A. and George, G. (2014). 'Are public–private partnerships a healthy option? A systematic literature review'. *Social Science & Medicine*, 113, pp.110–119.

Russ, D., Thambiah, Y. and Foscari, N. (2010). *Can Infrastructure Investing Enhance Portfolio Efficiency?* [online]. Available from: https://www.credit-suisse.com/pwp/am/downloads/marketing/infrastructure\_ch\_uk\_lux\_ita\_scandinavia.pdf [Accessed July 1, 2019].

S & P Global. (2018). India Credit Spotlight 2018. [online]. Available from: http://ratings.spglobal.com/rs/583-TMS002/images/India\_Credit\_Spotlight\_Publication\_Finalv1.pdf [Accessed June 6, 2019].

Saha, D. (2017). 'PPPs in India – will they regain their former glory?'. *World Bank Blogs*. [online]. Available from: https://blogs.worldbank.org/ppps/ppps-india-will-they-regain-their-former-glory [Accessed June 6, 2019].

Sahoo, P. and Dash, R.K. (2009). 'Infrastructure development and economic growth in India'. *Journal of the Asia Pacific Economy*, 14(4), pp.351–365.

Saini, N., & Singhania, M. (2018). Determinants of FDI in developed and developing countries: a quantitative analysis using GMM. Journal of Economic Studies.

Salleh, D. and Okinono, O. (2016). The role of private developers in local infrastructure provision in Malaysia. *Paper in THE INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON APPLIED SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY 2016*. [online]. Available from: http://aip.scitation.org/doi/abs/10.1063/1.4960934 [Accessed June 26, 2019].

Salleh, D. and Siong, H.C. (2008). 'THE INVOLVEMENT OF PRIVATE SECTOR IN LOCAL INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT IN MALAYSIA'. *Jurnal Alam Bina*, 11(2), pp.73–100.

Schuster, S., Balbosa, J., Tang, C., Komatsuzaki, T. and Peiris, S. (2017). *Scaling Up Infrastructure Investment in the Philippines: Role of Public–Private Partnership and Issues*. Manila: Asian Development Bank. [online]. Available from: https://www.adb.org/publications/scaling-up-infrastructure-investment-philippines-role-of-ppp-and-issues [Accessed June 20, 2019].

Seetanah, B., Ramessur, S. and Rojid, S. (2009). 'Does Infrastructure Alleviates Poverty?'. *International Journal of Applied Econometrics and Quantitative Studies*, 6(2), pp.17–36.

Shira, D. (2015). 'Foreign Investment Restrictions across ASEAN: An Overview of the Region's "Negative Lists" – Part Three'. *ASEAN BRIEFING*. [online]. Available from: https://www.aseanbriefing.com/news/2015/11/17/foreign-investment-restrictions-across-aseanan-overview-of-the-regions-negative-lists-part-three.html [Accessed June 25, 2019]. Singh, S. (2017). 'Evolution and Need for PPP in India'. *Imperial Journal of Interdisciplinary Research*, 3(4), pp.2089–2094.

Sinha, A. B. (2010). The Scenario of FDI in Infrastructure of India.[online]. available at: https://www.icsi.edu/media/portals/86/manorama/GIM%20JOURNAL.pdf [Accessed February 10, 2020].

Subhanij, T. and Lin, D. (2019). 'Bridging the Infrastructure Financing Gap in the Asia Pacific Region'. *Inter Press Service*. [online]. Available from: http://www.ipsnews.net/2019/01/bridging-infrastructure-financing-gap-asia-pacific-region/ [Accessed June 1, 2019].

Telang, D.V. and Kutumbale, D.V. (2014). 'PUBLIC PRIVATE PARTNERSHIPS IN INDIA'. *Research Front*, 2(4), pp.2320–8341.

The Economist. (2018). *Evaluating the environment for public-private partnerships in Asia - The 2018 Infrascope*. London: The Economist

The World Bank. (2011). *PPI data update note 60*. [online]. Available from: http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/524301468170943902/pdf/663310BRI0PPI000infrast ructure0note.pdf [Accessed June 6, 2019].

The World Bank. (2018). *VIETNAM - MAXIMIZING FINANCE FOR DEVELOPMENT IN THE ENERGY SECTOR*. [online]. Available from:

http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/290361547820276005/pdf/133788-WP-OUO-9-Vietnam-Energy-MFD-Report-ENG-for-printing.pdf [Accessed June 6, 2019].

The World Bank. (2019). 2018 Private Participation in Infrastructure (PPI) Annual Report. [online]. Available from: http://ppi.worldbank.org/~/media/GIAWB/PPI/Documents/Global-Notes/PPI\_2018\_AnnualReport [Accessed June 6, 2019].

The World Bank. (n.d.) 'GDP per capita (current US\$) - Malaysia'. *The World Bank DataBank*. [online]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.CD?locations=MY [Accessed July 1, 2019].

Thomsen, S. (2019). *The determinants of Foreign Direct Investment: Do statutory restrictions matter?* [online]. Available from: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/finance-and-investment/the-determinants-of-foreign-direct-investment\_641507ce-en [Accessed June 28, 2019].

Toledo, R. (2016). *Philippine fiscal and expenditure management reforms*. [online]. Available from: https://www.slideshare.net/OECD-GOV/philippine-fiscal-and-expenditure-management-reforms-rolando-toledo-philippines [Accessed June 30, 2019].

Tyson, J.E. (2018). 'Private infrastructure financing in developing countries'. *ODI Working paper*, 536.

United Nations. (2015). *World Population Prospects The 2015 Revision, Key Findings and Advance Tables*. New York: United Nations.

Van Thang, N. and Freeman, N.J. (2009). 'State-owned enterprises in Vietnam: are they 'crowding out' the private sector?'. *Post-Communist Economies*, 21(2), pp.227–247.

Vanham, P. (2018). 'The story of Viet Nam's economic miracle'. *World Economic Forum on ASEAN*. [online]. Available from: https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2018/09/how-vietnam-became-aneconomic-miracle/ [Accessed June 6, 2019].

Verougstraete, M. and Kang, H.J. (2014). *Mobilizing Private Funding: the Case of the National Highways of India.* [online]. Available from:

https://www.unescap.org/sites/default/files/Case%203\_Private%20Funding\_Indian%20Highways.p df.

Vietnam Investment Review. (2019). 'Vietnam eyes private investment in infrastructure projects'. *Vietnam Investment Review*. [online]. Available from: https://www.vir.com.vn/apicenter@/print\_article&i=65317 [Accessed June 13, 2019].

Vo, T T and Nguyen, A D. (2012). Experiences of Vietnam in FDI Promotion: Some Lessons for Myanmar. In Economic Reforms in Myanmar: Pathways and Prospects, edited by Hank Lim and Yasuhiro Yamada, BRC Research Report No.10, Bangkok Research Center, IDE-JETRO, Bangkok, Thailand.

Vu-Thanh, T.-A. (2017). 'Does WTO Accession Help Domestic Reform? The Political Economy of SOE Reform Backsliding in Vietnam'. *World Trade Review*, 16(1), pp.85–109.

World Economic Forum. (2014). *Infrastructure Investment Policy Blueprint*. Geneva: World Economic Forum.

World Economic Forum. (2018). *The Global Competitiveness Report 2018*. [online]. Available from: http://www3.weforum.org/docs/GCR2018/05FullReport/TheGlobalCompetitivenessReport2018.pd f [Accessed June 6, 2019].

WSP. (2010). *Public Private Partnership in India*. [online]. Available from: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/57a08afa40f0b649740008b6/TI\_UP\_HD\_Aug2010\_ Public\_Private\_Partnership\_in\_India.pdf [Accessed June 6, 2019].

Yin, R. (2014). Case study research: design and methods. 5th ed. Los Angels: SAGE.

Zawawi, Z., Kulatunga, M. and Thayapran, M. (2016). *Malaysian experience with Public Private Partnerships (PPP) – managing unsolicited proposals*. [online]. Available from: https://usir.salford.ac.uk/id/eprint/39267/3/Malaysian%20Experience%20with%20Public%20Privat e%20Partnerships%20(PPP)%20%E2%80%93%20Managing%20Unsolicited%20Proposals[1].pdf [Accessed June 25, 2019].